RECEIVED

May 11 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Deandrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000641

Stonington Community Association, Inc,..... Respondent,

v.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING NO QUESTION OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS REGARDING THE APPLICABILITY OF RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS TO THE APPELLANTS' PROPERTY BASED ON THE LEGAL THEORY OF RECIPROCAL NEGATIVE EASEMENTS?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN IN FINDING THAT APPELLANTS ARE JUDICIALLY ESTOPPED FROM DENYING HOA MEMBERSHIP AND OBLIGATIONS AND THEREFORE, STONINGTON'S RESTRICTIVE COVEANTS APPLY TO APPELLANTS PERSONALLY?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANTS' PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO THE STONINGTON DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS, AND EASEMENTS (AMENDED)?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT MANDATORY ASSESSMENTS CAN BE APPLICABLE BASED ON THE LEGAL THEORY OF RECIPROCAL NEGATIVE EASEMENTS?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENT REGARDING APPELLANTS' COUNTERCLAIMS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent filed a Summons and Complaint on December 17, 2018 seeking Declaratory Judgment, Enforcement of Covenants, Specific Performance, and Quantum Meruit related to the Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Easements, Charges and Liens for Stonington. Appellants timely filed an Answer and Counterclaim against Respondent, raising numerous affirmative defenses and alleging a causes of action for Abuse of Process. Respondent filed a timely reply to the counterclaims. Since the filing of the action, various Defendants have been dismissed.

On July 22, 2020 Respondent filed its Motion for “Summary Judgment on Defendants’ Counterclaim for Abuse of Process.” On August 27, 2021, Respondent filed its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the applicability of Stonington’s restrictive covenants to the subject lots owned by the remaining Appellants. A hearing was held January 4, 2021, where the matter was taken under advisement. On April 1, 2021 the court issued an Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment.¹

On April 12, 2021, Appellants filed a Notice of Motion and Motion Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, to Alter or Amend. On May 28, 2021, the court issued an Amended Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Motion for Summary Judgment as to Defendants’ Counterclaim. On June 7, 2021, Appellants filed a Notice of Motion and Motion Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, to Alter or Amend regarding the Amended Order. Following the filing of Appellants’ motion, and without the court ruling on the motion,

¹This order also contained a ruling on “Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Defendants’ Counterclaim for Abuse of Process”

Appellants filed a timely Notice of Appeal on June 15, 2021.²

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Stonington Development, LLC was organized and purchased an approximately onehundred sixty-five acre (165) portion of land, comprised of multiple parcels, located in Richland County in 2000. On June 4, 2001, the Richland County Planning Commission approved preliminary plans for Phase I of Stonington. On June 10, 2001, Stonington Development, LLC recorded a “Bonded Plat of Stonington - Phase I” (R. p. 164) showing a portion of the property subdivided into fifty-five (55) residential lots and the various infrastructure articles necessary to support the lots. On November 5, 2002, Stonington Development, LLC recorded the Stonington Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, and Easements (Amended) (hereafter “original Stonington Declaration”) with the Richland County Register of Deeds. (R. pp. 343-363). These original Stonington Declaration seeks to outline the various rights, restrictions, easements, etc. in which Stonington Development, LLC (“Declarant” in the Original Declaration) intended to subject the Property. On May 26, 2004, Associated E&S, Inc. created Bonded Plat of Stonington - Phase II-A & II-B for Stonington Development, LLC. On September 6, 2005, Stonington Development, LLC recorded Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Easements, Charges and Liens for Stonington (hereafter "Amended and Restated Declaration"). (R. pp. 364-407). On April 3, 2006 was recorded. On March 27, 2007, Stonington Development, LLC, and Stephen E. Lipscomb, it’s sole member, executed a Promissory Note, Mortgage, and two (2) Guarant[ies] in favor of Carolina First Bank. (R. pp. 478-499). In 2008, Carolina First Bank, Stonington Development LLC's lender, brought a foreclosure action against a portion of the whole

² Following the filing and service of the notice of appeal, the court issued two (2) orders, both titled “Amended Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Motion for Summary Judgment as to Defendants’ Counterclaim” and issued on July 6, 2021 and July 7, 2021, respectively. (R. pp. 24-36, 37-49).

property owned by Stonington Development, LLC, which ultimately resulted in the transfer of a portion of the property to Carolina First Bank by way of Foreclosure Deed. (R. pp. 408-410).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"[S]ummary judgment is a 'drastic remedy' which should be cautiously invoked so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues" Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (S.C. App. 2003)(internal citations omitted).

"In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, our appellate courts have applied the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC." Woodson v. DLI Properties, LLC, 406 S.C. 517, 528, 753 S.E.2d 428, 434 (2014). "[S]ummary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005). "Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. "Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law." Id. At 220, 616 S.E.2d at 729. "Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied." Id. "However, when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which no reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted." Id.

"In determining whether any triable issues of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Blumenthal Mills, 365 S.C. at 219, 616 S.E.2d at 729. "If triable issues

exist, those issues must go to the jury.” Id. Similarly, “[o]n appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” Id.

“The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” Id. At 220, 616 S.E.2d at 730. “Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent’s case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings.” Id. “Rather the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.” Id.

“The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder.” Blumenthal Mills, 365 S.C. at 220, 616 S.E.2d at 730. “Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” Id. “In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

A declaratory judgment action is neither legal nor equitable per se. Rather, its character is determined by the nature of the underlying issue. Felts v. Richland County, 303 S.C. 354, 400 S.E.2d 781 (1991); Reyhani v. Stone Creek Cove Condominium II Horizontal Property Regime, 329 S.C. 206, 494 S.E.2d 465 (Ct.App.1997). Courts “look to the kind of action in which the issue involved would have been decided if there were no declaratory judgment procedure.” Felts, 299 S.C. at 216, 383 S.E.2d at 263.

ARGUMENTS

The trial court erroneously granted Summary Judgment in favor of Respondent for both its prayer for declaratory judgment as well as Appellants' counterclaims against Respondent. The Order conflicts with existing precedent on both issues and in the analyses undertaken, creates novel issues for which no precedent exists. On each issue, the trial court's analysis is deeply flawed, and this Court after review of the issues should reverse.

I. The trial court erred in granting Summary Judgment in favor of Respondent based on the legal theory of reciprocal negative easements when question of material fact exists as to the applicability of restrictive covenants to the Appellants' property.

The trial court erroneously found that Appellants' are subject to the covenants set for in "the Stonington Declarations"³ by way of reciprocal negative easements. In doing so, the court declines to find that the subject lots are expressly bound, despite Respondent's contention to the contrary. The record is quite clear that with respect to the properties at issue in this appeal, whatever portions of the larger parcel potentially subject to the "Original Declarations" were refined and restricted to the portions contained in Exhibit A to the "Amended Covenants;" which consists entirely of Phase I. (R. p. 407).

The trial court further holds that the provision contained at Article 1, Section 1(R) of the Amended Declarations does not bar the trial court from "applying a theory of implied reciprocal covenants." (R. p. 18). Article 1, Section 1(R) of the Amended Declarations states:

³ The term "Stonington Declarations" is not defined in the Amended Order. The Amended Order styles the Stonington Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements (Amended) as "Original Declarations" and the Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Easements, Charges and Liens for Stonington as "Amended Declarations". For the purposes of this Brief, Appellants will assume the trial court was referring to the "Declarations" collectively.

“In addition to, no implied reciprocal covenants or obligation to develop shall arise with respect to lands that have been retained by the Developer for future development. The Developer shall not be bound by any master plan, use or restriction or use shown on any master plan, and may in its sole discretion at any time change or revise said master plan, develop or not develop the remaining undeveloped property or common area or amenities shown on any master plan.”

(R. pp. 368-369). Appellants do, and can, rely on Section 1(R) of the Amended and Restated Declaration that "no implied reciprocal covenants...shall arise with respect to lands that have been retained by the developer for future development" but also that the Developer “may in its sole discretion at any time change or revise said master plan, develop or not develop the remaining undeveloped property.” While the trial court finds that the language of the provision does not bar implied covenants, it ignores the plain and unambiguous language of the remainder of the provision, which serves to reserve the right to do with its property as it wishes to the Developer, and in doing so requires a closer examination of the restrictive covenants Respondent seeks to enforce in conjunction with the Developer’s actions regarding the property. The discretion reserved for Developer creates an inherent ambiguity and questions as to the restrictive covenants and their applicability. "For a reciprocal negative easement to arise by implication, the implication must be plain and unmistakable." Shoney's, Inc. v. Cooke, 291 S.C. 307, 313, 353 S.E.2d 300, 304 (Ct. App. 1987). "[A] restriction [will not be] enlarged or extended by construction or implication beyond the clear meaning of its terms even to accomplish what it may be thought the parties would have desired had a situation which later developed been seen by them at the time." Taylor v. Lindsey, 332 S.C. 1,498 S.E.2d 862 (1998)(citing Forest Land Co. v. Black, supra).

Further, as Plaintiff has done throughout this case and since 2010 at the latest, is to pick and choose when and to which properties the restrictions apply. The fact that numerous

Defendants have been excused from being a member in the Plaintiff or paying dues and assessments, violates both the mandatory membership provisions of the Amended and Restated Declaration but also raises questions of material fact as to whether a theory of implied reciprocal negative easement can be adopted by this court when to do so would mean that properties in the same community, on the same street, or even next to one another would be treated differently and subject to different rights and restrictions. See (R. pp. 419-422). To do so seems to fly in the face of the theory of implied reciprocal negative easement, who's general purpose is that all properties be subject to the same restrictions for the benefit of all.

a. Elements of Reciprocal Negative Easement

In order for restrictive covenants to bind property without express documentation in the chain of title, four elements must be satisfied to establish reciprocal negative easements: There must be a common grantor; There must be a designation of the land or tract subject to restrictions; There must be a general plan or scheme of restriction in existence for the designated land or tract; and The restrictive covenants must run with the land. Bomar v. Echols, 270 S.C. 676, 679, 244 S.E.2d 308 (1978).

Appellants concede that the land and lots derive from a common grantor, Stonington Development, LLC, who at one time owned approximately 165 acres. Appellants contend however, that in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, the trial court erred in ruling that “the second element, designation of land or tract subject to restrictions, is also indisputably satisfied.” (R. p. 19). The trial court errs in that it conflates designating a parcel of land as associated with a neighborhood by plat, name, or lot number and designating land or tract **subject to restrictions** as discussed in Bomar, Id. (Emphasis added). In the case at hand there is no question that the broad strokes of a neighborhood known anecdotally as “Stonington.” The trial court’s reasoning fails though as it rests on the

assumption that Developer absolutely must complete a project, without deviation, once planning is approved. Between 2002 when the “Original Declarations” were recorded and 2006 when the “Amended Declarations” were recorded, certain events or concerns caused the Developer to “amend and restate” the restrictive covenants associated with its development. The Developer altered the language and terminology in the Amended Declararions and restricted the applicability of of the restrictive covenants to a specific portion of the property. *See* (R. pp. 343-363, 364-407).

Further, the Developer’s further actions or conscious failure to act raises further question of material fact regarding the “designation of land or tract subject to restrictions,” a crucial element in the trial court’s finding. Developer maintained ownership and control of the subject properties until their transfer pursuant to Foreclosure Deed dated February 10, 2010. (R. pp. 408-410). In the interim between the recording of the Original Declarations and the foreclosure deed, the Developer mortgaged the subject property, (R. pp. 478-499), agreeing not to “permit any change in any license, restrictive covenant, or easement without Lender’s prior written consent” and warranting that the Property is unencumbered, except for encumbrances of record,” which do not include the Amended Covenants. (R. pp. 478-499). During the same period, while still in complete control of the subject lots, the Developer was involed in multiple lawsuits regarding both the neighborhood management, in which the Developer had notice by way of order of the court that the subject properties in Phase II were not subject to encumbrance, and drainage issues involving retention ponds affecting neighboring properties, issues which the developer had been previously instructed to address. (R. pp. 338-342, 157-158). While the trial court erroneously considered the affidavit of Stephen Lipscomb⁴ filed March 15, 2021, over two (2) months after the January 4, 2021

⁴ The trial court’s July 7, 2021 Amended Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed

hearing, Mr. Lipscomb is a key witness and his **full** deposition testimony, not a unilateral four (4) page affidavit, signed three days prior to his scheduled deposition, would offer a great deal of insight into the “Developer’s intent” that is referenced by the trial court. (R. p. 20). At worst, given the specific lands described as being bound, the affirmative steps needed to bind additional property, and the action or knowing inaction on behalf of the Developer, a question of fact arises that would require determination from the finder of fact as to the intent of the common grantor.

Appellants concede that at the time of its creation, Developer acted with the presence of a general plan or scheme of restriction. As often happens though, and certainly in the case at hand, plans change for one reason or another.

The final element required for reciprocal negative easements to exist is that the restrictive covenants must run with the land. The trial court errs when it finds that “the Stonington Declarations expressly announce Developer’s intent that the covenants, restrictions, easements, charges and liens therein shall run with the land and be binding on all owners.” First, although the Declarations contain language that they “run with the land,” such language is limited to the expressly bound and encumbered properties of Phase I. For properties outside of Phase I, such as the subject properties of Phase II, there is no evidence in the record that a subsequent purchaser for value would be made aware that specific restrictive covenants run with to the property. No deeds or other document referencing the Original Declarations or Amended Declarations specifically referenced have been made part of the record. This lack of evidence creates material question of fact as to the final element required.

II. The trial court erred in finding that Appellants are Judicially Estopped from Denying HOA Membership and Obligations and therefore,

after the court was divested of jurisdiction, makes a notation that the trial court did not consider the affidavit of Stephen Lipscomb. (R. pp. 37-49).

Stonington’s restrictive covenants apply to [Appellants] personally.

The trial court found that Appellants, all of them, are judicially estopped from “Denying HOA Membership and Obligations and therefore, Stonington’s restrictive covenants apply to [Appellants] personally.” (R. p. 16). This finding is in error on several fronts.

First and foremost, because the purpose of the doctrine is to protect the integrity of the judicial process, it is ‘invoked by a court at its discretion.’ Quinn v Sharon Corp, 343 SC 411 540 S.E.2d 474 SC App 2000 (citation omitted in original). The question of Appellants’ personal membership in the Home Owners’ Association, was not a question before the court and such a ruling preferably follows a complete balancing of the equities. Plaintiff’s Summons and Complaint, filed December 17, 2018 (R. pp. 58-71), alleges a cause of action for Declaratory Judgment, the cause of action subject to the Order. In its Complaint, Plaintiff alleges “that it is entitled to a declaratory judgment that the **properties** referenced in Exhibit A are encumbered by the governing documents, on the theory of reciprocal negative easements, that the Defendants, owners of the properties, are not exempt from paying assessments, and that the **subject lots** carry mandatory assessment obligations. (Emphasis added.) Essentially, Plaintiff asks for the answer to three (3) questions in its cause of action.

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