RECEIVED

May 27 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000641
Civil Action Case No. 2018-CP-40-06557

Stonington Community Association, Inc.,..... Respondent,

v.

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

To the extent the above explanation of privity is unique to collateral estoppel, rather than judicial estoppel, Stonington submits that privity exists by virtue of the relationship between the Homeowners as well. All Homeowners have acted in concert and as a group in this litigation. Homeowners have always maintained the same counsel⁴, filed identical answers to Stonington's complaint, filed identical motions and/or responsive pleadings, and argued that *all* Phase II Lots in Stonington were neither expressly restricted by the Declarations, nor implicitly restricted by operation of reciprocal negative easements. They have, by their own actions and admissions, created privity amongst one another with regard to the issue of whether the restrictive covenants apply to their Lots. Either Phase II was or

⁴ Appellants terminated their original counsel as a group and retained current counsel as a group.

was not restricted—and Homeowners, as a group, insist that it was not. The trial court’s ruling on that narrow issue does not preclude the individual Homeowners from pursuing their own respective arguments and legal interests in the trial on the issue of enforceability.

Homeowners further argue that because the previous litigation did not involve the same “subject matter”—the applicability of the Declarations—that judicial estoppel cannot apply. (Init. Br. of Appellants pp. 15-16.) This argument is flawed because the prior lawsuits do not have to involve the same parties, subject matter or issues for judicial estoppel to apply. *See Carrigg*, 347 S.C. at 83, 552 S.E.2d at 771-72 (reciting general elements of judicial estoppel). Homeowners conflate judicial estoppel with *res judicata* (claim preclusion) and collateral estoppel (issue preclusion). Judicial estoppel is neither claim nor issue preclusion, but rather, it is “position preclusion.” And, the position taken by certain Homeowners in previous litigation was that they are members of the Stonington homeowner association by virtue of their Lot ownership and were entitled to the management and control of Stonington. As a result of that suit, *all* members of Stonington obtained control of their community from the acting developer.

Lastly, Homeowners argue the trial court erred in its finding that Homeowners “previously participated in HOA by making past assessment payments, paying HOA fees, signing HOA acknowledgment forms, and even conduct pursuant to the restrictive covenants.” (R. p. 17). Respondent concedes that evidence in the form of “receipts, financial records, meeting minutes, deposition testimony, forms signed by any of the Appellants, or any other document [...]” as to those facts has not *yet* been made part of the trial court record. (Init. Br. of Appellants, p. 14.) As stated multiple times in the pleadings filed in the trial court and at the hearing on the Motions, a trial can and should be had on

the equitable issues to be considered in the *enforcement* of the restrictive covenants against Homeowners personally. Evidence proving past conduct, payments, and acknowledgments will be submitted at that time. Such evidence is not necessary to the summary judgment granted to Stonington on the narrow issue of whether Homeowners are judicially estopped from taking a position in conflict with one earlier taken in another legal proceeding. *However*, it is worth noting that while documentary evidence was not admitted, and not necessary, for the Motions, those facts have *always* been undisputed between the parties and even uncontested in Homeowners' pleadings and at the hearing on the Motions. (R. pp. 325, 415, 416-418, p. 520, line 14-p. 522, line 6, p. 539, line 21-p. 540, line 3, p. 549, line 8-p. 550, line 1, p. 551, lines 12-16, p. 553, line 4-p. 555, line 12). To use the absence of documentary evidence to call into question a fact conveyed to the trial court as uncontested is, at a minimum, disingenuous.

III. The trial court correctly held Homeowners' Lots are subject to the original Stonington Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, and Easements.

The trial court correctly held that Homeowners' Lots are bound by the Original Declaration. As more thoroughly outlined in Section I above, no genuine issue of material fact exists as to the four elements required to prove RNE apply to the Phase II properties. Homeowners have erroneously asserted that any "designations made in the Original Declaration, unless contained in the Amended and Restated Declaration [are] now not applicable." However, Homeowners conflate the concept of releasing property from restrictive covenants with amending the actual contents of the restrictions. *See Kinard*, 407 S.C. at 257-58, 754 S.E.2d at 895 (Stating neighbors were conflating the concept of subjecting property to restrictive covenants with amending the content of restrictive

covenants where they argued subjecting any property beyond the initial property described could only be accomplished through an amendment). Amending and restating the Original Declaration did not affect what property was bound, it merely changed the terms of the restrictive covenants applicable to property already bound—whether expressly or by application of RNE. In either event, the terms of the Amended Declaration replace and supersede those of the Original. And, as discussed in Section I, *supra*, the Amended Declaration applies to Homeowners’ Lots by virtue of RNE.

IV. A covenant to pay assessments is a “restrictive covenant” and therefore subject to application upon real property by reciprocal negative easements.

A covenant to pay assessments is a restrictive covenant and can apply to real property by RNE. “Restrictive covenants, sometimes referred to as ‘real covenants,’ are agreements ‘*to do*, or refrain from doing, certain things with respect to real property.’” *Kinard*, 407 S.C. at 257, 754 S.E.2d at 893 (quoting *Queen’s Grant*, 368 S.C. at 361, 628 S.E.2d at 913) (emphasis added). “When [restrictive covenants] arise by implication, a reciprocal negative easement has been created.” *Bomar*, 270 S.C. at 679, 244 S.E.2d at 310.

Homeowners argue that RNE only applies to the “restrictions,” but not “assessments” or “liens.” (Init, Br. of Appellants, p. 17.) Homeowners asserts the trial court’s order was silent on whether “assessments and liens” apply to Homeowners’ properties. *Id.* No such silence exists. The trial court found Stonington conclusively established all four elements “for the applicability of the [...] Declarations’ covenants to apply to the Phase II properties within Stonington, including [Homeowners’] Lots, by way of reciprocal negative easements.” (R. p. 20). This ruling means *all* of the restrictive covenants in the Declaration apply, not just some. In South Carolina, the terms

“covenants,” “restrictions,” “restrictive covenants,” “negative easements,” are used interchangeably to mean “real covenants.” Indeed, many homeowner association “Declarations” have one or any combination of these and other words (*i.e.* “Declaration of Covenants,” “Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions,” etc.). Regardless of the name, what they typically have in common are contractual provisions requiring property owners to do and refrain from doing something. Indeed, the restrictive covenants at issue in this case are contained in that certain “Amended and Restated Declaration of **Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Charges and Liens** for Stonington” recorded in the Richland County Register of Deeds on September 6, 2005 in Book 1094 at Page 3911. (emphasis added). (R. pp. 72-115). This document replaced and superseded those certain restrictive covenants contained in the “Stonington Declaration of **Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements** (Amended)” recorded on November 5, 2002 in Book 721 at Page 3559. (emphasis added). (R. pp. 165-184).

Homeowners assert the application of a covenant to pay assessments via RNE is a novel issue in South Carolina. (Init. Br. of Appellants, p. 17.) Homeowners even state Stonington concedes it is a novel issue. *Id.* Homeowners misunderstand the novelty issue and Stonington’s memorandum. Stonington’s argument is and has always been that all of the restrictive covenants contained in the Declarations apply to all Stonington subdivision property, to include Homeowners’ Phase II Lots. Stonington does not believe that is a novel issue. Stonington’s memorandum, to which Homeowners presumably refer, argued, in the alternative to reciprocal negative easements applying *all* the restrictive covenants within the Declarations to Homeowners’ Lots, that there was an abundance of other persuasive authority for finding Homeowners only have an obligation to pay assessments,

as their fair share of maintenance of common areas, services and amenities in a common interest community. (R. pp. 149-151).

A common interest community is defined in the Restatement (Third) of Property (Servitudes) § 6.2 (2000), which states,

- (1) A “common-interest community” is a real-estate development or neighborhood in which individually owned lots or units are burdened by a servitude that imposes an obligation that cannot be avoided by nonuse or withdrawal:
 - (a) to pay for the use of, or contribute to the maintenance of, property held or enjoyed in common by the individual owners, or
 - (b) to pay dues or assessments to an association that provides services or facilities to the common property or to the individually owned property, or that enforces other servitudes burdening the property in the development or neighborhood.

There are no reported South Carolina appellate opinions applying an implied covenant to pay assessments simply by virtue of a community being a common-interest community. However, there is ample, persuasive case law throughout the United States that requires lot owners to pay assessments to homeowners associations for the purpose of maintaining common area, services, and amenities as a matter of equity. *Perry v. Bridgetown Community Ass’n, Inc.*, 486 So. 2d 1230 (Miss. 1986) (landowner who purchases property deriving benefits from a homeowner association implies consent to be charged assessments and dues common to all members; alternatively, a covenant to pay assessments to maintain common areas is implied by necessity); *Braeshire Condominium Bd. Of Managers v. Brinkmeyer*, 841 S.W.2d 217 (Mo. Ct. App. 1992) (even if assessment procedure had been defective, court could use equitable power to require unit owners to pay assessments needed for common element); *Weatherby Lake Improvement Co. v. Sherman*, 611 S.W.2d 326 (Mo. Ct. App. 1980) (lot owners required to pay assessments for upkeep of lake even though developer who created lake failed to impose maintenance

obligation in deeds or create homeowners association; imposing assessments on all owners is fair and equitable because all hold easements to use lake); *Sea Gate Ass'n v. Fleischer*, 11 N.Y.S.2d 767 (Sup.Ct. 1960) (when ownership of property in residential community allows owners to use roads and other common areas of development, there is an implied agreement to pay proportionate costs of maintenance and repair); *Spinnler Point Colony Ass'n, Inc. v. Nash*, 689 A.2d 1026 (Pa. Commw. Ct 1997) (owner of property in private residential community with right to use roads and access lake is obligated to pay a proportionate share for repair, upkeep, and maintenance of roads, facilities, and amenities even if chain of title contains no covenant imposing assessments or referring to association; if lot owners were not obligated to pay assessments, community's facilities would fall into disrepair); *Meadow Run and Mountain Lake Park Ass'n v. Berkel*, 409 Pa. Super. 637, 598 A.2d 1024 (1991) (lot owners required to pay assessments to maintain lakes, dams, roads, and other common areas in development; although deeds did not include covenant to pay assessments, deeds provided that, if owners association was formed, occupants would be bound by such rules and regulations as to boating, bathing, ice skating, and fishing as association should adopt; residential communities are analogous to mini-governments and are dependent on collection of assessments to maintain and provide essential and recreational facilities). While the trial court did not make findings based on this argument, it does serve as an additional sustaining ground for finding Homeowners are required to pay assessments to Stonington.

The trial court's finding that the Declarations apply, and therefore **all** the restrictive covenants therein, to the Homeowners' Lots is fully supported by the evidence in the record

and existing South Carolina law. No genuine issue of material fact exists with regard to this narrow issue in the case.

V. The trial court properly dismissed the Homeowners' counterclaim.

The trial court did not err in dismissing the Homeowners' counterclaim for abuse of process. The Homeowners cannot demonstrate error in the trial court's ruling for a number of reasons.

A. The Homeowners abandoned their arguments as to their abuse of process counterclaim on appeal.

Mere allegations of error without arguments and supporting authority are insufficient to support an appeal. *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994). "Short, conclusory arguments unsupported by authority are deemed abandoned." *Cole v. S.C. Elec. and Gas, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 183, 196, 584 S.E.2d 405, 412 (Ct. App. 2003).

The Homeowners' argument on appeal regarding their counterclaim is short and conclusory. Only two cases are cited in support of the Appellant Homeowners' position. *Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole* holds that *lis pendens* filings enjoy an absolute judicial privilege. 351 S.C. 1, 32, 567 S.E.2d 881, 897 (Ct. App. 2002). That case's only relevance is that abuse of process provides a remedy for a maliciously filed *lis pendens*. *Id.* at 31, 567 S.E.2d at 897. The other case the Homeowners cited merely holds that a *lis pendens* must comply with statutory requirements to be effective. *S.C. Nat'l Bank v. Cook*, 291 S.C. 530, 532-33, 354 S.E.2d 562, 563 (1987).

The Homeowners' counterclaim alleged that Stonington filed the *lis pendens* for the improper purpose of harassing them and coercing them into agreeing to the community covenants and restrictions and paying dues. (*See R.* pp. 124-25, 50-57.) The trial court

ruled that “[t]here is nothing in the record to suggest that Plaintiff acted with any ulterior purpose.” (R. p. 21.) Furthermore, the trial court found that the *lis pendens* filing was appropriate and in accord with its statutory purpose. (R. pp. 21-22.)

On appeal, the Homeowners did not present any evidence to demonstrate factual error in the trial court’s ruling. No authority was cited to support their argument that the *lis pendens* was improperly filed in this case. Therefore, the Homeowners’ argument is deemed abandoned and the trial court’s ruling granting summary judgment as to the counterclaims should be affirmed.

B. The Homeowners failed to meet their burden of proving the trial court erred.

Even if the Homeowners’ arguments regarding their counterclaim are not deemed abandoned, they nevertheless fail. Their brief on appeal merely rehashes their arguments to the trial court. There is no argument as to why the trial court erred.

The Homeowners’ initial brief offers nothing that was not submitted to the trial court. The first two paragraphs of section V of the brief are copied almost verbatim from the Homeowners’ Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment filed in the trial court on January 4, 2021. (*See* R. pp. 335-336.) The third paragraph of section V of the Homeowners’ initial brief appears to be copied from their Rule 59(e) Motion filed on April 12, 2021. (*See* R. p. 457.) These arguments were presented to the trial court and considered in the trial court’s Order filed May 28, 2021.

An appeal is not a “second bite at the apple.” On appeal, the appellant’s burden is to demonstrate that the trial court erred in its ruling. “[A]n appealed order comes to the appellate court with a presumption of correctness and the burden is on the appellant to demonstrate reversible error.” *McCall v. IKON*, 380 S.C. 649, 659-60, 670 S.E.2d 695,

701 (Ct. App. 2008). That burden has not been met with respect to the Homeowners' counterclaims.

The first two paragraphs of the Homeowners' brief were argued to the trial court and ruled upon in the Order filed April 1, 2021. (R. pp. 6-7.) That Order was not appealed. Therefore, those arguments are barred by the law of the case doctrine. *Transportation Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Inj. Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 431, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010) ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance."). In fact, the trial court repeatedly rejected these arguments in four (4) separate orders.⁵ All four rulings are substantially identical, and three have not been appealed. (See R. pp. 1-49.) The homeowners' burden of proving error has not been met.

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